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The Firm Forchheimer & Schloss in Fuerth

Obstmarkt and Forchheimer & Schloss at
Obstmarkt 1 in the 1930s
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The origin of the firm Forchhemer and Schloss goes bz

, to around 1812 and Suessmann Forchheimer. The "Ma-

trikel* of Jews in Fuerth show that Suessin
Forchheimer was born in 1784. The date of his imma-
triculation was 2 Neember 1812. The address book
Fuerth for the year 1819, thest book after the date

his immatriculation, gives a list of Jewish bussess di-
vided into specific categories. Amongst "Auss-
chnittwaren"” - Haberdashery Shops - Soesm
Forchheimer (Froehlich) is recorded at house No.
This shows that for some reason Soemsn had change
his name from Forchheimer to Froehlich. House N
had stood in Sternbeckengasse, later to be ren&teea-
gasse and then Sternstrasse (now part of the p
Mohrenstrasse), opposite the s#at Post Office. It we
demolished in the 1960s/70s during the modation of
that old part of the town.

In 1848 Suessmann Froehlich's daughter Hannchen mar
ried Max Schloss, who in 1837 had come from Sugen-
heim to Fuerth to learn a trade. After all the rssagy
requirements to receive the grant of doiei Max hac
passed his "Mdsr" examination on 9 June 1847, wh
opened the way to self employment, and in May !
received his trade licence.

It appears that on his marriage he either joinetbok over the business of his father-in-law and
established the firm Forchheimer & Schloss in haNee457, which subsequently became Stern-
gasse 175, then Sternstrasse 19 and is now Ludimgrdstrasse 19, just a few meters from house

No 461.

This house, where the firm Forchheimer & Schloastatl in 1848 was built in 1825. It still stands
and is under "Denkmalschutz”, e.g. an architectotahument under a preservation order. In the
book "Denkmaeler in Bayern" (Monuments in Bavarsgsued by the Bayerisches Landesamt fuer



Denkmalpflege, the Bavarian State Department resplenfor the conservation it is described as
"Dreistoeckisches Klassizistisches Traufhaus raitifen Eckrisaliten und Mansarddach (Fue FI.N.
522)".

In recent years a plaque has been affixed to tlusdyccommemorating Heinrich Berolzheimer, a
Freeman of Fuerth, "a true humanitarian”, foundehe Berolzheimeranium, who was born in the
house on 6 September 1856:

In diesem Hause wurde Heinrich Berolzheimer, Ehuendper der Stadt Fuerth, ein wahrer Men-
schenfreund, Stifter des Berolzheimeraniums anmepte®nber 1856 geboren. Er starb am 15. April
1906.

Max Schloss lived in this house above the "shopd hought it ir
1861. All his children were born here. Heinrich sk, Max and Han-
nchen's youngest son, bewa a partner in Forchheimer & Schloss
20 August 1883. A further family partner, futurenda-law of Max,
Samuel Gutmann, joined the firm on 27 July 1887.30rAugust 188"
Samuel Gutmann married Sophie Schloss, daughtéiaof and his
second wife Amaé. Towards the end of the 1880s Max retired f
, the firm. The firm had expanded since 1848, nowlidgaalso in tex-
SC'f]rl‘g“s‘g?noggﬁx;g‘:é?;;ﬁassgIes., linen, drapées, curtains and floor coverings, both wholesaie
retail.Further expansion followed and a branch egem 1895 ir
(photo: Heinz & Thea Skyte) Schwabacherstrasse 28 at the corner with Blumessstradater de-
scribed as one of the busiest streets in Fuerth.

When the original premises in Sterngasse becamsnadl for the ever expanding business the new
premises were built next door on Obstmarkt.

The House Obstmarkt 1

Originally an old inn "Zum weissen Schwan@Vhite Swan) ha
stood on the site of the present house, itsohisgoing back t
1675. In the 18 century the house had seal Jewish owners su
as Dettelbacher, Berdieimer, Reiss and Dinkelsbuehler, nai
well known in Fuerth at the time. In 190@etproperty was boug
by grandféher Samuel Gutmann and his cousin Heinrich Scf
pariners of Forchheimer & Schloss. The old house wasotlshec
to make room for the building of the present hoDbstmarkt 1(1)

lf living accommodation on the floors above.

The official opening of the new premises is recdraethe Chroni-

just two months after the death of Max Schloss. \&drand Sophi
Opening of the new premises on Gutmann moved from their home above the shop in Stasse 1!
Obstmarkt, 1902 into the second floor apartment of the new house deor.

(photo: Heinz & Thea Skyte)



Obstmarkt was one of ¢hold market places
Fuerth, formerly called "Holzmarkt", where :
years gone by people from the surrounding coun- §
tryside sold firewood. It was renam
"Obstmarkt" when fruit sellers started putting
their stalls here around 1874.

In 1905 a wooden hutas erected on the mark
paid for with 9,000 Mark of public funds,
which the "Deutsche Dampffischerei-
Gesellschaft" sold sea fish. The smell from
soon proved too much for the greengrocers,
Objected to it as, no doubt, also did the owne Obstmark_t 1 t_)etween 1905 an_d 1911. On the extreme
the surrounding houses. Off' 8lovember 191 right is the hut of the fish company.

the monumental mason Kreppner, bought the
for 405 Mark and had it demolished on th&' 28
that month.
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Soon other family partners joined the firm, SiegdriArnstein, son-in-law of Heinrich Schloss, and
in 1912 Sali Scheidt, son-in-law of Samuel and $o@utmann.

Forchheimer & Schloss celebrated thé”&hniversary of its foundation on 3ay 1928. The
local papers, the Fraenkische Tagespost as wétieaBlordbayerische Zeitung reported the occa-
sion. The report in the latter reads:

Firm's 80" anniversary! During the restless days of the {&48 the firm Forchheimer and Schloss
was founded here and thus today celebrates tHeaBfiversary of its existence. The firm was
started on a small scale in Sterngasse, but frenbdiginning the founders, through sound business
dealings, managed to draw in their customers. Yeungembers, who joined the firm, incorporated
a wholesale department into the business, so ltegbriemises soon proved to be too small and the
owners at that time felt it necessary to build éangodern business premises on Obstmarkt 1. In the
meantime the town had continually expanded. It thasefore also necessary to set up a branch in
the upper part of the town, which opened in 18%hatcorner of Schwabacherstrasse and Blumen-
strasse. The firm, which in the beginning mainhaltdén haberdashery constantly extended their
range. Apart from adding clothing and underwead, bable and kitchen linen, the firm most of all
extended in the field of house furnishings, suckwatains, carpets and linoleum and enlarged and
improved this department considerably. Today tha fs amongst the most respected and leading
firms in its field. The good reputation, which tlen enjoys within the business world and amongst
its customers must in the main be due to the faatdt all times reliable and courteous service was
the highest principle in its transactions. It wlais fprinciple that was kept up even during the year
of the inflation, which made such extremely higimd&ds on all businesses, but particularly on the
retail trade. The firm, surrounded by a considerabhff of employees, most of whom have already
worked there for some decades, can today celetirateare occasion of the 80th anniversary of its
foundation. We wish the firm further success.

The firm even appears to have had some export égsims a 1922 post card by Lehmann Bros. of
Jerusalem shows.



The staff of Forchheimer & Schloss participating inthe 1933 May Day procession. In 1934 the firm empyed a
staff of 32, consisting of two labourers, 25 empl@gs and five apprentices.
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Of the four family partners, Heinrich Schloss died 928, Siegfried Arnstein retired from the firm
on 30 June 1934 and Samuel Gutmann on 31 DecerB3ér eaving Sali Scheidt as sole owner
from 1 January 1937.

Already in 1933 boycotts of Jewish firms had s@yrtgetting worse in the following years.

Family letters of August 1938 state that officiarmission for the sale of the branch in Schwabach-
erstrasse had been received. On 2 September 1988/art appeared in the Riess- Chronik that the
branch of the firm Forchheimer & Schloss will be@tarisch” - Aryan. The opening was expected
to be probably Monday,"5September 1938.

During "Kristallnacht", the night of pogroms 9/1@Wember 1938, the shop windows of the busi-
ness premises on Obstmarkt were smashed and tls:WBevenge for Paris" chalked on in white.
The vast destruction and activities against Jeves Jawish premises and property that had taken
place during the night was officially called offtine afternoon of the ¥Dafter most synagogues in
Germany had been burned down. The government wakkl official steps to punish the Jewish
population for the assassination attempt in P&is.12 November 1938 the government accord-
ingly ordered the "Ausschaltung der Juden aus demsdhen Wirtschaftsleben” (exclusion of Jews
from German economic activities). A law to thateetfwas passed on 23 November 1938. This laid
down that Jews would be forbidden to own retailplebale or manufacturing businesses as from 1
January 1939.

A detailed account of the happenings of that nighpeared in the Riess Chronik of November
1938:

10. November 1938. Yesterday afternoon at 5.25h,Ralho was injured by two shots fired by a
Jew, died of his injuries. The outrage has alseriaffect here. Last night many Jewish shops were
demolished. The synagogue in the Jewish "Schulndfoenigstrasse, as well as the "Kaalschule",
the "Scharr", the old prayer room in Mohrenstragsee set on fire. All buildings were completely
burnt out. The fire services were occupied with geng down operations until lunchtime. All Jew-
ish shops are closed today. Military posts haveidsded the site. "Revenge for Paris" has been
chalked on the demolished shops of Forchheimer BldSs on Obstmarkt, the Jeweller's Waller-
stein in Hirschenstrasse and Goldmann's in Blumasst etc. Several important Jews were ar-
rested. In the afternoon the radio announced: thelevpopulation was strongly ordered by the
government to refrain from any further demonstraiand retaliation of any sort whatsoever



against Jews. Final measures for the attemptedsasation in Paris would be taken against the
Jews by the government through the passing of apjpte laws. Many spectators stood all day in
Koenig- and Mohrenstrasse before the entrance gmathe "Schulhof". During the night and in the
morning SA. (brown shirts) personnel undertook leossarches of Jewish premises. Wherever any
resistance was offered or the door not answerece fwas used. Many Jews were arrested and kept
in the "Volksbildungsheim'(2) for the day. In the evening they were driven awayhree large
buses. Where to? Last night the fire engines oeajtdvith the prevention of fire spreading to adja-
cent Christian houses. In the Jewish Orphanagéetcorner of Julien - and Rosenstrasse all
groundfloor windows were smashed. On the frontdgihe house chalked in large letters is: "We
do not allow a German to be murdered by a Jew!"Whls "Jews shall perish!" are written on the
walls of the Jewish Secondary School in Blumens&adhe interior of the Jewish Cafe in
Moststrasse has been smashed to smithereens, aso$adhe guests offered resistance. Nearly all
local Jews were taken from their beds last nighSBypersonnel and lined up on the Schlageter-
platz, as were the 42 Jewish children from the anplge in Julienstrasse at 1.30 a.m.. At 6 a.m.
they were taken to the hall of the "Volkbildungsh&i Women, girls and children were allowed to
go home at 9 a.m., their husbands were also rele@é about 132 of them were driven off in
buses in the evening."

Sali was amongst those who were arrested to sprretad weeks in the Concentration Camp Da-
chau, but before being sent there was one of tiee thignatories forced to sign the sale of all prop
erties of the Jewish Community of Fuerth for 100rkéa A letter from the District Attorney dated
15 February 1939 states "that the unit value optioperties by far exceeded RM. 100,000.

Whilst Sali was in Dachau the appropriate authesiidvised the Mayor of Fuerth on 28 November
1938 to appoint a named liquidator to carry outwreding up of Forchheimer & Schloss. A few
days later the Mayor accordingly ordered this todbee. Family documents show that members
were forced to "agree" to certain conditions, &greduce the amount of their claims, or the firm
would be declared "bankrupt”. Reductions were aiade to the value of the firm's stock. Detailed
documents exist.

During 1940 a forced "sale" was also imposed onhihese Obstmarkt 1. Any "sale” money was
paid into a "Sonderkonto der Geheimen Staatspolzesrnberg-Fuerth” (Special Account of the
Secret State Police). Detailed documents of thegadings exist.

Sali, who was released from Dachau after a few weekcondition that he would emigrate. Finally

Sali and Frida Scheidt, who had lived in the tHiodr apartment at Obstmarkt 1 since 1934, man-
aged to emigrate to England at the end of Augu88 1fust five days before the outbreak of war.

Samuel and Sophie Gutmann were both deported frorarhberg to Theresienstadt on 10 Septem-
ber 1942. Hannchen Arnstein, daughter an one oh#éresses of Heinrich Schloss and widow of
Siegfried Arnstein, a former partner in Forchheie®chloss committed suicide on 25 November
1941, assumable prior to deportation. Paula Berylsggond daughter and heiress of Heinrich, and
her family had already emigrated to Jerusalem samedtefore 1939.

Post War

After the war the 1938 buyer of the Schwabachessé&dranch contacted Sali and Frida Scheidt
and visited them in Leeds, and agreed a fairdlesstht of the sale with them.

Following very lengthy legal proceedings in theelaB40s / early 1950s, some form of settlement
was eventually reached between members of theyfamiheir heirs and the then owner-occupiers
of the Obstmarkt 1 premises.



A"~ Obstmarkt 1 is now a listed building under a preston oder. In
| the book "Denkmaeler in Bayern" (Monuments irnv&@a) issue
“— by the Bayerisches Landesamt fir Denkrflaje, the Bavaria
State Department responsible for the covesgon it is describe
as

"a tall four story high business and dwelling hobsét in sand-
stone in the rich ‘Neurenaissance’ style witboaks. The fror
door to the house is beautifully carved.

The firm Forchheimer & Schloss had the imposing ltiwg house
and business premises built, in its design the sif/khe late ‘His-
~torismus’ combining with maern building methods. The vault
.., ertrance hall has a tiled floor and has, as welhasstaircase, ric
-+, wall and ceiling paintings in the rich ‘Jugendsttoloured glaz-
(& ing, wrought iron banters and chandeliers. In the apartments
stucco ceilings and the corner bay windows haveuwed leade
Entrance door of Obstmarkt 1 |ights plant motives, one of the now very rare eplas of decora-

. tion in apartments.”
(photo: Heinz & Thea Skyte)

The book also has a number of beautiful illustragiof the interior of the building, the tiled floor
and ceiling and wall decoration of the entrancé, tia¢ leaded lights of the upstairs rooms, as well
as the entrance door to the shop.

In 1988 the inside of the shop premises had hardfnged. The original front door remains, as
well as the big curved staircase with its beautvubught iron banister, which led to the first floo
showrooms. The shelves, however, are now stockd#dstationery instead of textiles and drapery
etc.

Until it became a parking lot after the end of thar, fruit stands stood again on Obstmarkt for
many years . Some time ago a Fuerth paper repdiftiedv, although some trees give the place a
friendlier look, it had to gave way to the trangparour time - the motor car.”

In the 1990s Obstmarkt has undergone another ch@rgee again it had to give way to "transport
of our time" by becoming an entrance to the extansif the Nuremberg-Fuerth underground rail-
way system.

Footnotes

(1) Stadtarchiv Fuerth.

(2) The "Volksbildungsheim" had formerly been known"Bgrolzheimerianum”, a large build-
ing, incorporating a concert hall, library, meetnogms etc. presented to the citizens of Fuerth
by Heinrich Berolzheimer, a prosperous Fuerth Jew.
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